# **REPORT**

# OF THE COUNCIL OF FAO

Hundred and Thirty-third Session Rome, 14-16 November 2007



#### COUNCIL

#### (as from 1 January 2007)

Independent Chairperson of the Council: Mohammad Saeid Noori Naeini

Algeria 1 Australia<sup>2</sup>
Bangladesh<sup>3</sup> Bolivia Brazil 1 Cameroon 14 Canada 1 Cape Verde <sup>1</sup>
Chile <sup>3</sup>
China <sup>3</sup> Côte d'Ivoire 2 Cuba 1 Egypt <sup>2</sup> El Salvador <sup>2</sup> Eritrea <sup>1</sup>

Ethiopia <sup>3</sup> France <sup>2</sup>

Gabon <sup>3</sup> Germany <sup>3</sup> India <sup>2</sup> Indonesia 2 Iran (Islamic Republic of) <sup>3</sup> Italy <sup>2</sup> Japan <sup>3</sup> Lebanon <sup>2</sup> Madagascar<sup>2</sup> Malaysia<sup>3</sup> Mali <sup>1</sup> Malta 1 Mexico 1

Pakistan<sup>2</sup> Panama <sup>3</sup>
Republic of Korea <sup>3</sup> Saudi Arabia 2 Slovenia <sup>1</sup>
South Africa <sup>3</sup> Sweden <sup>2</sup> Thailand <sup>3</sup>

Trinidad and Tobago <sup>1</sup> Ukraine <sup>3</sup>

United Arab Emirates <sup>1</sup>
United Kingdom <sup>2</sup>
United States of America <sup>1</sup>

Uruguay <sup>3</sup> Zambia <sup>2</sup>

Moldova <sup>3</sup>

Nigeria Oman

Netherlands 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Term of office until the conclusion of the Thirty-fourth Session of the Conference, November 2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Term of office until 31 December 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Term of office until the conclusion of the Thirty-fifth Session of the Conference, November 2009. <sup>4</sup> Replaced the Democratic Republic of the Congo until November 2007.

# **REPORT**

# OF THE COUNCIL OF FAO

**Hundred and Thirty-third Session Rome, 14-16 November 2007** 

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this information product do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) concerning the legal or development status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. The mention of specific companies or products of manufacturers, whether or not these have been patented, does not imply that these have been endorsed or recommended by FAO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned.

ISBN 978-92-5-105804-6

All rights reserved. Reproduction and dissemination of material in this information product for educational or other non-commercial purposes are authorized without any prior written permission from the copyright holders provided the source is fully acknowledged. Reproduction of material in this information product for resale or other commercial purposes is prohibited without written permission of the copyright holders. Applications for such permission should be addressed to:

Chief
Electronic Publishing Policy and Support Branch
Communication Division
FAO
Viale delle Terme di Caracalla, 00153 Rome, Italy
or by e-mail to:
copyright@fao.org

© FAO 2007

## **Table of Contents**

	Paragraphs
INTRODUCTION - PROCEDURE OF THE SESSION	1-4
ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA AND TIMETABLE	2
ELECTION OF THREE VICE-CHAIRPERSONS, AND DESIGNATION OF THE CHAIRPERSON AND MEMBERS OF THE DRAFTING COMMITTEE	3-4
ACTIVITIES OF FAO	5-7
PREPARATIONS FOR THE THIRTY-FOURTH SESSION OF THE FAO CONFERENCE (RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE CONFERENCE)  Nomination of the Chairperson of the Conference, and of the Chairpersons of the Commissions of the Conference  Nomination of three Vice-Chairpersons of the Conference  Nomination of seven Members of the General Committee	5-7 5 6 7
PROGRAMME, BUDGETARY, FINANCIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS	8-43
PROGRAMME OF WORK AND BUDGET (PWB) 2008-09	8-20
REPORT OF THE JOINT MEETING OF THE 98 <sup>TH</sup> SESSION OF THE PROGRAMME COMMITTEE AND THE 119 <sup>TH</sup> SESSION OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE (ROME, SEPTEMBER 2007)	
REPORT OF THE 98 <sup>TH</sup> SESSION OF THE PROGRAMME COMMITTEE (ROME, 3-7 SEPTEMBER 2007)	21-24
REPORTS OF THE 119 <sup>TH</sup> SESSION (ROME, 3-7 SEPTEMBER 2007 AND 120 <sup>TH</sup> SESSION (ROME, 8 AND 9 OCTOBER 2007) OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE  Status of Contributions and Arrears  Adoption of Russian as a Language of FAO - Funding Modalities  Other Matters Arising out of the Reports	25-36 27-28 29-30 31-36
MEASURES TO IMPROVE THE ORGANIZATION'S CASH SHORTAGE SITUATION	37

iv CL 133/REP

INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL EVALUATION OF FAO	38-43
CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL MATTERS	44-52
REPORT OF THE 82 <sup>ND</sup> SESSION OF THE COMMITTEE ON CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL MATTERS (ROME, 25 OCTOBER 2007)	44-49
	50-52
	50-51 52
OTHER MATTERS	53-58
REVISED CALENDAR OF FAO GOVERNING BODIES AND OTHER MAIN SESSIONS 2007-2008	53
REPORTS OF THE INTERNATIONAL TECHNICAL CONFERENCE ON ANIMAL GENETIC RESOURCES (INTERLAKEN, SWITZERLAND, 3-7 SEPTEMBER 2007) AND OF THE ELEVENTH REGULAR SESSION OF THE COMMISSION ON GENETIC	
RESOURCES FOR FOOD AND AGRICULTURE (ROME, 11-15 JUNE 2007)	54-58

#### **APPENDICES**

- A Agenda for the Hundred and Thirty-third Session of the Council
- **B** List of Delegates and Observers
- C List of Documents
- **D** Revised Calendar of FAO Governing Bodies and other Main Sessions 2007-2008

#### INTRODUCTION - PROCEDURE OF THE SESSION

1. The Hundred and Thirty-third Session of the Council was held in Rome from 14 to 16 November 2007 under the Chairpersonship of Mohammad Saeid Noori Naeini, Independent Chairperson of the Council. The Director-General made an introductory statement.

#### ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA AND TIMETABLE 1

2. The Council noted the Declaration of Competence and Voting Rights presented by the European Community and adopted the Agenda and Timetable for the Session after adding an item under Any Other Matters on the Reports of the International Technical Conference on Animal Genetic Resources (Interlaken, Switzerland, 3-7 September 2007) and of the Eleventh Regular Session of the Commission on Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture (Rome, 11-15 June 2007) as proposed by France. The Agenda is given in *Appendix A* to this Report.

# ELECTION OF THREE VICE-CHAIRPERSONS, AND DESIGNATION OF THE CHAIRPERSON AND MEMBERS OF THE DRAFTING COMMITTEE <sup>2</sup>

- 3. The Council elected three Vice-Chairpersons for its Session: Mohamed Ashraf Gamal Eldin Rashed (Egypt), Yohannes Tensue (Eritrea) and Ms Agnes van Ardenne van der Hoeven (Netherlands).
- 4. The Council elected Vic Heard (United Kingdom) as Chairperson of the Drafting Committee with the following membership: Australia, Bangladesh, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, Egypt, Ethiopia, France, Gabon, Japan, Netherlands, Oman, Ukraine and United Kingdom.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CL 133/1; CL 133/1-Add.1; CL 133/INF/1; CL 133/INF/6; CL 133/INF/8; CL 133/INF/9; CL 133/PV/1; CL 133/PV/4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CL 133/PV/1; CL 133/PV/4.

#### **ACTIVITIES OF FAO**

# PREPARATIONS FOR THE THIRTY-FOURTH SESSION OF THE FAO CONFERENCE (RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE CONFERENCE) <sup>3</sup>

Nomination of the Chairperson of the Conference, and of the Chairpersons of the Commissions of the Conference

5. In accordance with Rule VII of the General Rules of the Organization (GRO) the Council <u>agreed</u> to put the following nominations before the Conference:

Chairperson of the Conference: Carlos Vallejo López (Ecuador)

Chairperson of Commission I: Christer Wretborn (Sweden)

Chairperson of Commission II: Mario Arvelo Caamaño (Dominican Republic)

Nomination of three Vice-Chairpersons of the Conference

6. In accordance with Rule VII GRO the Council <u>agreed</u> to put the following nominations before the Conference:

Kaman Nainggolan (Indonesia) Abubaker Al-Mansori (Libyan Arab Jamahiriya) Vladimir Iosifov (Russian Federation)

Nomination of seven Members of the General Committee

7. In accordance with Rule VII GRO the Council <u>agreed</u> to put the following nominations, provided for by Rule X-1 GRO, before the Conference:

China	Kuwait
Denmark	New Zealand
Gabon	United States of America
Guatemala	

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> C 2007/12-Rev.1; CL 133/PV/1; CL 133/PV/4.

# PROGRAMME, BUDGETARY, FINANCIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS

#### PROGRAMME OF WORK AND BUDGET (PWB) 2008-09 4

- 8. The Council considered the Programme of Work and Budget proposals for the 2008-09 biennium, together with the relevant advice in the Reports of the Programme and Finance Committees.
- 9. The Council observed that the contents of the document complied with the guidance it had provided at its previous session of June 2007. Hence, the proposed maintenance budget presented in the Summary had been further developed in the full PWB; the latter included more phased proposals for the funding of reserves and long-term liabilities to restore the financial health of the Organization.
- 10. The Council further noted that the full PWB met the expectation of no major reprioritisation, pending the outcome of the IEE. The maintenance budget, therefore, continued the substantive priorities agreed by the membership and reflected the organizational changes recently approved by the Governing Bodies. Nevertheless, the Council <u>welcomed</u> the increased multidisciplinary focus placed on climate change and bioenergy, as well as work in support of knowledge management and capacity-building.
- 11. The Council also appreciated the preliminary efforts made to present Regular Programme and extra-budgetary resources in a more integrated manner. It looked forward to further progress in this direction while respecting the multilateral character of the Organization, as this would facilitate a more coherent resource mobilisation strategy and enhance flexibility in meeting requirements of Members, as well as eventual IEE follow-up.

#### Links with the IEE

12. The Council recognised that the proposals in the PWB could not address follow-up to the IEE while, as anticipated, the two tracks of intergovernmental consideration of the PWB and of the IEE documentation would need to converge at the Conference in the following week.

#### Views on the Budget Level

- 13. As different views were expressed on the budget level for the next biennium, the Council was not in a position to reach a consensus ahead of the further discussions expected in Commission II of the Conference.
- 14. A majority of Members supported the proposals for a maintenance budget which in their view constituted a bare minimum, bearing in mind the challenges FAO was expected to address, including the implementation of MDG1, and the need to put an end to the cumulative budgetary stringency experienced in recent biennia. They felt that this would also be consistent with the call for reform with growth made by the IEE.
- 15. Many other Members stated that they could support in principle the maintenance budget. They reiterated the need for continued attention to efficiency savings which could assist in lowering absolute resource requirements under the Regular Budget.
- 16. Some Members stressed their expectation that increases in assessments for the next biennium should remain within realistic levels.

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> C 2007/3; CL 133/PV/2; CL 133/PV/4.

17. One Member underlined that the level of the budget proposed in the PWB could not be supported, as it was not in line with the financial discipline his country expected in international organizations and bearing in mind the expectation of significant gains in efficiency from implementation of the IEE recommendations.

- 18. One Member proposed that the Conference in the following week could adopt a one-year budget (i.e. for the year 2008), pending the expected consideration by a special session of the Conference in the second half of 2008 of the Immediate Action Plan (IAP) recommended by the IEE. Hence, the latter session of the Conference would be able to address budgetary requirements for the second year of the biennium in full cognizance of the reform package embodied in the IAP. Many Members opposed this idea, as it would generate a damaging climate of uncertainty in the Organization and would be disruptive to the orderly delivery of essential services.
- 19. Other Members did not specifically express their respective Government's views at this stage.

#### Other Matters

20. The delegate of the United Arab Emirates reported that since the Hundred and Thirty-second Session of the Council, consultations had taken place and all Members of the Gulf Cooperation Council and Yemen had supported the proposal to establish a FAO Sub-regional Office for the Gulf Cooperation Council States and Yemen in the United Arab Emirates. He confirmed the commitment of his Government to cover the full costs of the new Office and requested the Council to approve the establishment of this Sub-regional Office in 2008. The Secretariat recalled that the establishment of this Sub-regional Office had been foreseen since 2005 as part of the worldwide implementation of reform, and clarified that in light of the principle of full-cost reimbursement by the Host Country, the Sub-regional Office would be established within the current budgetary appropriation without any net transfer of resources from Headquarters to the field. A majority of Members expressed their support, with no country expressing reservations. In view of the above, the Council approved the proposal to establish a new FAO Sub-regional Office for the Gulf Cooperation Council States and Yemen in the United Arab Emirates and applauded the generosity of the United Arab Emirates to cover the full implementation and running costs.

# REPORT OF THE JOINT MEETING OF THE 98<sup>TH</sup> SESSION OF THE PROGRAMME COMMITTEE AND THE 119<sup>TH</sup> SESSION OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE (ROME, SEPTEMBER 2007) <sup>5</sup>

# REPORT OF THE 98<sup>TH</sup> SESSION OF THE PROGRAMME COMMITTEE (ROME, 3-7 SEPTEMBER 2007) <sup>6</sup>

- 21. While agreeing to reflect its substantive discussion of the Committee's deliberations on the Programme of Work and Budget 2008-09<sup>7</sup> under agenda Item 4, the Council <u>endorsed</u> the Report and conclusions of the Programme Committee.
- 22. In its discussion, the Council attached priority to FAO's role in climate change and bioenergy, capacity-building, knowledge management, and the management of transboundary plant pests and livestock diseases including Avian Influenza. Members drew attention to the usefulness to countries of national medium-term priority frameworks that enabled them to make better use of FAO's potential. With respect to the Rome-based Agencies, the Council <u>requested</u> that the Secretariat continue to report progress in the development of cooperation, including on

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The content of the Report was discussed under "Programme of Work and Budget 2008-09".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CL 133/3; CL 133/PV/2; CL 133/PV/4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> C 2007/3.

cost-savings. The progress being made in developing an integrated approach to Regular Programme and extra-budgetary resources was appreciated, in particular concerning the Programme of Work and Budget presentation.

- 23. The Council <u>welcomed</u> the evaluation report of the International Plant Protection Convention (IPPC) that had been discussed in the Programme Committee. The Council particularly stressed the importance it attached to FAO's functions in international standard-setting and the roles of the IPPC and the Codex Alimentarius Commission and that they should receive increased Regular Programme funding. The Council shared the emphasis placed by the Programme Committee and the IPPC evaluation on capacity-building to enable developing country Members to maximise the potential benefits from FAO standard-setting bodies. In this regard, the important role of extra-budgetary resources was stressed. A number of Members also considered that the standard-setting bodies needed to be more inclusive and transparent in their institutional arrangements if they were to adequately meet the needs of developing countries.
- 24. The Council noted the Chairperson's view that the Programme Committee should take a more strategic role in providing advice to the Council on FAO's overall priorities and directions and, in this context, <u>welcomed</u> the development of a new Strategic Framework for the Organization as part of the follow-up to the IEE.

# REPORTS OF THE 119<sup>TH</sup> SESSION (ROME, 3-7 SEPTEMBER 2007) AND 120<sup>TH</sup> SESSION (ROME, 8 AND 9 OCTOBER 2007) OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE <sup>8</sup>

- 25. The Council expressed grave concern with the deterioration in the financial situation of the Organization as evidenced by various factors, in particular:
  - a) the high level of late payments and arrears which resulted in frequent recourse to external borrowing to cover operating expenses and ensure delivery of the approved programme;
  - b) the large accumulated General Fund deficit and the emergence in 2006-07 of significant under-budgeted costs;
  - c) the slowdown in the rate of TCP expenditure during 2006-07 in the face of severe liquidity problems;
  - d) the depletion of the Organization's reserves.
- 26. The Council <u>urged</u> the membership to make a concerted effort to address these problems, both in the short term by settling in a timely way all outstanding contributions and in the longer term by pursuing strategies to ensure that significant obligations such as after-service liabilities become fully funded and by considering ways to replenish reserves. The Council again stressed that the TCP was a vital component of FAO's work and should not be used as a source of funding to address liquidity problems, nor its delivery delayed.

#### Status of Contributions and Arrears <sup>9</sup>

- 27. The Council considered the status of contributions and arrears of the Organization as at 12 November 2007, and noted with concern that over 24 percent of the membership of the Organization had made no payment towards their US\$ portion of 2007 assessments, and 27 percent of the membership had not made any payment towards their Euro portion of 2007 assessments.
- 28. The Council expressed concern over the high level of arrears outstanding, noting that forty-seven Member Nations still had arrears outstanding from 2006 and previous years and twenty-four owed arrears in such amounts as would prejudice their right to vote in accordance

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CL 133/4; CL 133/11; CL 133/PV/2; CL 133/PV4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CL 133/LIM/1; CL 133/PV/2/ CL 133/PV/4.

with Article III.4 of the Constitution. While appreciating the often-difficult financial situations of some countries, emphasis was placed on the importance for all Member Nations, irrespective of their size, to honour their financial obligations towards the Organization. The Council, therefore, urged all Member Nations to pay their contributions in full and on time, in order to enable the Organization to continue to fulfil its mandate.

Adoption of Russian as a Language of FAO - Funding Modalities  $^{10}$ 

- 29. The Council examined the two alternative scenarios for funding the adoption of Russian as a language of the Organization put forward in document CL 133/6, which the Secretariat had been requested to develop. The first modality involved full funding of the introduction of the Russian language through Regular Programme resources up to an amount of US\$5.2 million per biennium. The second option considered a phased implementation of such introduction, to be funded at a level of US\$1.7 million per biennium from the Regular Programme budget, complemented by extra-budgetary resources. While reiterating its support to the adoption of Russian as a language of the Organization, the Council noted the recommendation made by the Finance Committee at its Hundred and Nineteenth Session that such introduction be funded only through extra-budgetary contributions in the next two biennia.
- 30. The Council <u>approved</u> the proposed gradual introduction of Russian as a language of the Organization. Many Members supported funding through the Regular Programme, as set out in the proposed Programme of Work and Budget 2008-09. Several Members felt that such phased implementation should be funded through voluntary contributions only, given the difficult financial situation of the Organization.

Other Matters Arising out of the Reports 11

#### Programme and Budgetary Transfers in the 2006-07 Biennium

- 31. The Council noted that in accordance with Financial Regulation 4.5(b), the Finance Committee had reviewed the proposed Programme and Budgetary Transfers in the 2006-07 biennium. The Council also noted that the forecasted 2006-07 performance was mainly impacted by under-budgeted costs as previously reported, in particular a significant forecasted unfavourable staff cost variance and redeployment cost for incumbents of abolished posts.
- 32. The Finance Committee had noted that the 2006-07 budgetary appropriation was foreseen to be fully spent, with the exception of a surplus of approximately US\$1.5 million under Chapter 9: *Security Expenditure*. The Committee, recalling the endorsement by Council in November 2006 to maintain internal controls, had requested an amount up to US\$500 000 of the expected surplus under Chapter 9 to be provided to the Finance Division to renew contracts under the Local Audit Programme.
- 33. Taking into account this adjustment, the Committee had authorized transfers from budgetary Chapters 2, 3, 4 and 9 in favour of Chapters 1 (US\$1.7 million), 5 (US\$3.3 million), and 8 (US\$2.0 million). The Council noted that the Director-General would report the precise amounts transferred to the first session of the Finance Committee in 2008.
- 34. As requested by the Council, the Committee had considered the viability of alternative proposals for funding excess terminal payments from within the Regular Programme appropriation while protecting the TCP programme. The Committee had again acknowledged that very few programme activities could be cut at this stage of the biennium without incurring even greater increased costs. To cover to the extent possible the excess terminal payments in 2006-07, the Committee had requested that the Secretariat re-apportion any overall budgetary surplus, including that arising under Chapter 5. The Council recalled that excess terminal payments had

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CL 133/6; CL 133/PV/2; CL 133/PV/4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CL 133/4; CL 133/11; CL 133/PV/2; CL 133/PV/4.

been charged to the General Fund in past biennia, and stressed that any under-budgeted costs should only be charged to the General Fund as a last recourse.

#### **Incentive Scheme to Encourage Prompt Payment of Contributions**

35. The Council was informed of the Finance Committee's discussions in several past sessions concerning the efficacy and appropriateness of the Incentive Scheme in the face of rising levels of unpaid current assessments and arrears. The Committee had agreed, at its Hundred and Nineteenth Session, to maintain the discount rate at zero for 2008 contributions, in line with its previous recommendations, and as endorsed by the Council at a previous session.

#### Revised Calendar of FAO Governing Bodies and other Main Sessions 2007-2008

36. The Council noted that the Finance Committee, at its Hundred and Nineteenth Session, had observed that better coordination was required on the timing of Finance Committee sessions dealing exclusively with World Food Programme (WFP) items. It had recommended that the Council include the timing of such WFP sessions in the overall Calendar of the Governing Bodies. The matter would be discussed under Item 12 of the present Council session.

# MEASURES TO IMPROVE THE ORGANIZATION'S CASH SHORTAGE SITUATION 12

37. The Council noted that discussions were ongoing among concerned Members on two draft resolutions for the Conference on Measures to Improve the Organization's Cash Shortage Situation, but additional time was required in order to arrive at a consensus. The Council recommended that discussions should continue with a view to reaching agreement on the issue during the forthcoming session of the Conference.

#### INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL EVALUATION OF FAO 13

- 38. The Council unanimously welcomed the Report of the Independent External Evaluation of FAO (IEE). The Council expressed its appreciation to all those who had played key roles in the process, in particular the Chair of the Council Committee for the IEE, Ambassador Perri, the IEE team leader and core team who had undertaken work of high quality, and its own Independent Chairperson who had led the Friends of the Chair process. The support of the FAO Director-General and Secretariat, in particular Mr John Markie, Chief of the Evaluation Service, had also been invaluable.
- 39. The Council shared the assessment of the Council Committee for the IEE that the evaluation was the most in-depth, comprehensive, wide-ranging and forward-looking evaluation conducted of a UN organization. It also agreed with the assessment that the IEE fully met the terms of reference prescribed in the Inception Report, and:
  - a) followed a sound methodology, which was consultative of the views of the main stakeholders;
  - b) was comprehensive and evidence-based; and
  - c) provided findings and recommendations for the future of FAO which were well-documented and grounded in analysis.
- 40. The Council welcomed the Management Response "In Principle", especially the positive position conveyed by management illustrated also by its determination to immediately initiate many of those reforms and improvements, in line with the recommendations of the IEE, which lay

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CL 133/LIM/2; CL 133/PV/4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> C 2007/7 A.1-Rev.1; C 2007/7 A.1-Corr.1; C 2007/7 A.2; C 2007/7 B; CL 133/12; CL 133/PV/3; CL 133/PV/4.

within the effective authority of the Director-General and which did not have incremental cost implications.

- 41. The Council <u>commended</u> the report of the IEE and the Management Response "In Principle" to the Conference for its consideration. In doing so, on behalf of all Members of their regional groups, Members of the Council expressed their determination to work together to build on the findings and recommendations of the IEE and the Management Response to move forward in time for a special Conference in 2008 in achieving FAO reform with growth.
- 42. The Friends of the Chair proposed text on the Main Elements for a Conference Resolution on Follow-up to the IEE. It provided a draft of the sections of the Resolution which all Members of the Friends of the Chair adopted with consensus, including a time-bound Committee of the Conference and the need for a special session of the Conference in the latter part of 2008. Many Members supported the inclusion of an additional paragraph in the Resolution on milestones and benchmarks for the work of the proposed Committee of the Conference. As there had not been adequate time to discuss this in the Friends of the Chair, the Council suggested to the Conference that it give this further consideration. The Council also drew attention to the Conference that the draft text of the proposed Conference Resolution provided for the Conference to appoint a Chair and Vice-Chair of the Conference Committee.
- 43. The Council thus <u>endorsed</u> for the consideration of the Conference the Report of the Independent Chairperson of the Council on the recommendations of the Friends of the Chair on IEE follow-up. The Council noted that it was possible for the Conference to extend the Friends of the Chair arrangements during the Conference, so as to permit further consideration of outstanding matters pertaining to the draft Conference Resolution on the IEE.

#### CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL MATTERS

# REPORT OF THE 82<sup>ND</sup> SESSION OF THE COMMITTEE ON CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL MATTERS (ROME, 25 OCTOBER 2007) <sup>14</sup>

44. The Council examined the Report of the Eighty-second Session of the Committee on Constitutional and Legal Matters.

Review of the work of the Informal Group of Legal Experts on the Process for a Change in the Nature of a Statutory Body under Article XIV of the FAO Constitution into a Body Outside the Framework of FAO (Possible Change in Status of the Indian Ocean Tuna Commission)

- 45. The Council noted the report of the Informal Group of Legal Experts on the process for a change in the nature of a statutory body under Article XIV of the FAO Constitution into a body outside the framework of FAO which was an annex to the CCLM Report. The Council <u>agreed</u> with the CCLM that while not all legal issues involved had been thoroughly examined, further analysis on the procedure to be followed for the separation of IOTC from FAO would not be productive at this stage. Fundamental decisions on issues of principle had yet to be taken by the Indian Ocean Tuna Commission and its Members.
- 46. The Council took note of statements of many Members stressing the need to address the long-standing issue of improving the efficiency and effectiveness of IOTC, as well as of the commitment of Members to deal actively with the matter. The Secretariat informed the Council that immediately after the sessions of the Conference and Council, it would initiate discussions in that connection with IOTC Members. The Council underlined the urgent need to bring this matter to a successful conclusion in order to ensure the sustainable management of tuna and tuna-like species in the Indian Ocean. The Council <u>urged</u> the Secretariat and all Members concerned to devise an appropriate formula for consideration by the IOTC to improve its efficiency and effectiveness at its forthcoming session in 2008.
- 47. The Council <u>endorsed</u> the view of the CCLM that the issue of the relationship between FAO and bodies established under Article XIV of the Constitution needed to be examined in future, taking into account all pertinent circumstances, including past practice of the Organization and the decisions of its Governing Bodies.

#### Other Matters

- 48. The Council noted that the issue of access by Members to reports of the Inspector General was still pending, that the matter had also been addressed in the context of the Independent External Evaluation and that guidance would need to be provided on this matter in future.
- 49. The Council was informed that the issue of allocating a second seat for the Near East region in the Finance Committee had not been examined as informal consultations among regional groups had not been resolved. The Council noted that the CCLM was ready to examine the matter in future once a common position had been reached.

#### OTHER CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL MATTERS 15

Applications for Membership in the Organization

50. The Council was informed of the applications for membership received from the Government of the Principality of Andorra and the Government of the Republic of Montenegro

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CL 133/5; CL 133/PV/1; CL 133/PV/4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> C 2007/10; CL 133/PV/1; CL 133/PV/4.

and of the application for associate membership received from the Government of the Kingdom of Denmark on behalf of the Faroe Islands.

51. Pending a decision by the Conference on these applications and pursuant to Rule XXV.11 of the General Rules of the Organization and paragraphs B-1, B-2 and B-5 of the "Statement of Principles relating to the Granting of Observer Status to Nations", the Council <u>authorized</u> the Director-General to invite the applicant countries to participate, in an observer capacity, in the present Council Session.

Change in the name of the Committee for Inland Fisheries in Africa 16

52. The Council noted that, at its Fourteenth Session held in Accra, Ghana, from 22 to 24 November 2006, the Committee for Inland Fisheries in Africa, a committee established by the Council under Article VI-2 of the FAO Constitution, recommended to the Council that its name be changed in order to reflect more accurately its work and activities concerning both inland fisheries and aquaculture. The Council <u>agreed</u> that the name of the Committee should henceforth be Committee for Inland Fisheries and Aquaculture in Africa.

#### **OTHER MATTERS**

# REVISED CALENDAR OF FAO GOVERNING BODIES AND OTHER MAIN SESSIONS 2007-2008 17

53. In considering the Revised Calendar of FAO Governing Bodies and other Main Sessions 2007-2008 (*Appendix D*), which was submitted to the Council for information, the Council took note that its Hundred and Thirty-fourth Session would be held in Rome on 26 November 2007.

# REPORTS OF THE INTERNATIONAL TECHNICAL CONFERENCE ON ANIMAL GENETIC RESOURCES (INTERLAKEN, SWITZERLAND, 3-7 SEPTEMBER 2007) AND OF THE ELEVENTH REGULAR SESSION OF THE COMMISSION ON GENETIC RESOURCES FOR FOOD AND AGRICULTURE (ROME, 11-15 JUNE 2007) 18

- 54. The Council had before it the Reports of the International Technical Conference on Animal Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture (Interlaken, Switzerland, 3-7 September 2007), and the 11th Regular Session of the Commission on Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture (Rome, 11-15 June 2007). It reiterated the importance of genetic resources for food and agriculture, including animal genetic resources, to achieve global food security and safeguard natural resources for present and future generations.
- 55. The Council <u>endorsed</u> the outcomes of the International Technical Conference, the Interlaken Declaration and the Global Plan of Action for Animal Genetic Resources, as a major contribution of FAO to the overall international framework on agricultural biodiversity.
- 56. The Council <u>endorsed</u> the Multi-year Programme of Work, adopted by the 11th Regular Session of the Commission on Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture. It noted that the Commission would oversee, assess and report on the implementation of the Global Plan of Action for Animal Genetic Resources.
- 57. The Council <u>proposed</u> that the Thirty-fourth Session of FAO Conference in November 2007 adopt a resolution endorsing the outcomes of the International Technical Conference and the

<sup>17</sup> CL 133/INF/4; CL 132/PV/3; CL 133/PV/4.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> CL 133/7; CL 133/PV/1; CL 133/PV/4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CL 133/INF/8; CL 133/PV/1; CL 133/PV/4.

Multi-year Programme of Work of the Commission on Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture.

58. The Council thanked the Government of Switzerland for hosting the International Technical Conference, as well as the countries that contributed towards this event, and facilitated participation of delegations from developing countries.

#### APPENDIX A

## AGENDA FOR THE HUNDRED AND THIRTY-THIRD SESSION OF THE COUNCIL

#### I. INTRODUCTION - PROCEDURE OF THE SESSION

- 1. Adoption of the Agenda and Timetable
- 2. Election of three Vice-Chairpersons, and Designation of the Chairperson and Members of the Drafting Committee

#### II. ACTIVITIES OF FAO

- 3. Preparations for the Thirty-fourth Session of the FAO Conference (Recommendations to the Conference)
  - 3.1 Nomination of the Chairperson of the Conference, and of the Chairpersons of the Commissions of the Conference
  - 3.2 Nomination of Three Vice-Chairpersons of the Conference
  - 3.3 Nomination of Seven Members of the General Committee

# III. PROGRAMME, BUDGETARY, FINANCIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS

- 4. Programme of Work and Budget (PWB) 2008-2009
- 5. Report of the Joint Meeting of the 98<sup>th</sup> Session of the Programme Committee and the 119<sup>th</sup> Session of the Finance Committee (Rome, September 2007)
- 6. Report of the 98<sup>th</sup> Session of the Programme Committee (Rome, 3-7 September 2007)
- 7. Reports of the 119<sup>th</sup> Session (Rome, 3-7 September 2007) and 120<sup>th</sup> Session (Rome, 8 and 9 October 2007) of the Finance Committee
  - 7.1 Status of Contributions and Arrears
  - 7.2 Adoption of Russian as a Language of FAO Funding Modalities
  - 7.3 Other Matters Arising out of the Reports
- 8. Measures to improve the Organization's Cash Shortage Situation
- 9. Independent External Evaluation of FAO

#### IV. CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL MATTERS

- 10. Report of the 82<sup>nd</sup> Session of the Committee on Constitutional and Legal Matters (Rome, 25-26 October 2007)
- 11. Other Constitutional and Legal Matters
  - 11.1 Applications for Membership in the Organization

A2 CL 133/REP

11.2 Change in the Name of the Committee for Inland Fisheries of Africa

#### V. OTHER MATTERS

- 12. Revised Calendar of FAO Governing Bodies and other Main Sessions 2007-2008
- 13. Any Other Matters
  - 13.1 Reports of the International Technical Conference on Animal Genetic Resources (Interlaken, Switzerland, 3-7 September 2007) and of the Eleventh Regular Session of the Commission on Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture (Rome, 11-15 June 2007)

المرفق باء 附录 B APPENDIX B ANNEXE B APÉNDICE B

## قائمة المندوبين والمراقبين

#### 代表和观察员名单

#### LIST OF DELEGATES AND OBSERVERS

#### LISTE DES DÉLÉGUÉS ET OBSERVATEURS

#### LISTA DE DELEGADOS Y OBSERVADORES

#### الرئيس المستقل

独立主席

Independent Chairperson Président indépendant Presidente Independiente

: Mohammad Saeid NOORI-NAEENI (Iran, Islamic Republic of)

نواب الرئيس

副主席

Vice-Chairpersons

Vice-présidents Vicepresidentes : Mohamed Ashraf GAMAL ELDIN RASHED (Egypt)

محمد أشرف جمال الدين رشيد (مصر)

: Yohannes TENSUE (Eritrea)

: Ms Agnes van ARDENNÉ VAN DER HOEVEN (Netherlands)

#### أعضاء المجلس

#### 理事会成员

#### MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL **MEMBRES DU CONSEIL** MIEMBROS DEL CONSEJO

#### ALGERIA - ALGÉRIE - ARGELIA -الجزائر

#### Représentant

Rachid MARIF

Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent auprès de la FAO

Rome

الممتل رشيد معارييف السفير و الممثل الدائم لدى المنظمة روما

#### Suppléant(s)

Abderrahman HAMIDAOUI

Ministre plénipotentiaire

Représentant permanent adjoint auprès de

la FAO Rome

المناوب عبد الرحمن حميداوي الوزير المفوض والممثل الدائم المناوب لدى المنظمة

#### Mme Habiba TALEB

Secrétaire diplomatique

Ambassade de la République algérienne

démocratique et populaire

Rome

حبيبة طالب السكرتير الدبلوماسي سفارة الجمهورية الجزائرية الديمقراطية الشعبية

#### **AUSTRALIA - AUSTRALIE**

#### Representative

**Brett HUGHES** 

Manager

Multilateral Trade Branch

Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and

Forestry

Canberra

#### Alternate(s)

Ms Judy BARFIELD

Counsellor (Agriculture)

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO

Rome

#### BANGLADESH

#### Representative

Syed NAQUIB MUSLIM

Additional Secretary

Ministry of Agriculture

Dhaka

#### Alternate(s)

Fazlul KARIM

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

#### Ms Nasrin AKHTER

Counsellor (Economic Affairs)

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO

Rome

#### **BOLIVIA - BOLIVIE**

#### Representante

Esteban Elmer CATARINA MAMANI

Embajador

Representante Permanente ante la FAO

Roma

B4 CL 133/REP

Suplente(s)

Maria Isabel CADIMA PAZ

Consejera

Representante Permanente Alterno ante la

FAO Roma

Oscar Bailon Javier RIVERO

ECHEVERRÍA Segundo Secretario

Embajada de la República de Bolivia

Rome

#### **BRAZIL - BRÉSIL - BRASIL**

Representative

José Antônio MARCONDES DE

CARVALHO Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Alternate(s)

Milton RONDÓ FILHO

Coordinator-General of International

Actions against Hunger Ministry of External Relations

Brasília

Renato MOSCA DE SOUZA

Counsellor

Deputy Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Saulo Arantes CEOLIN

Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

Mário Gustavo MOTTIN

Second Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

Felipe Haddock Lobo GOULART

Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

# CAMEROON - CAMEROUN - CAMERÚN

Représentant

Michael TABONG KIMA

Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent auprès de la FAO

Rome

Suppléant(s)

Moungui MÉDI Deuxième Conseiller

Représentant permanent adjoint auprès de

la FAO Rome

#### CANADA - CANADÁ

Representative

James MELANSON

Counsellor

Deputy Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Alternate(s)

Ms Maureen DOLPHIN

**Deputy Director** 

Programs and Multilateral Affairs Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada

Ottawa

Kent VACHON

Counsellor

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

## CAPE VERDE - CAP-VERT – CABO VERDE

Représentant

José Eduardo DANTAS FERREIRA

BARBOSA Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent auprès de la FAO

Rome

Suppléant(s)

Mme Maria GORETTI SANTOS LIMA

Conseiller

Représentant permanent adjoint auprès de

la FAO Rome

#### **CHILE - CHILI**

Representante

Gabriel VALDÉS SUBERCASEAUX

Embajador

Representante Permanente ante la FAO

Roma

Suplente(s)

Konrad PAULSEN Ministro Consejero

Representante Permanente Adjunto ante

la FAO Roma

Julio FIOL Consejero

Representante Permanente Alterno ante la

**FAO** Roma

Antonio BAYAS

Funcionario de la Dirección de Política

Multilateral

Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores

Santiago

#### CHINA - CHINE - 中国

Representative

Ms YAO XIANGJUN

Deputy Director-General

Department of International Cooperation

Ministry of Agriculture

Beijing

姚向君

农业部

国际合作司

副司长

北京

Alternate(s)

HU YAN'AN

Counsellor

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO

Rome

胡延安

常驻粮农机构代表处

参赞 罗马

**LUO MING** 

Director

Department of International Cooperation

Ministry of Agriculture

Beijing

罗鸣

农业部

国际合作司

处长

北京

Ms ZHANG MING

Second Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

**FAO** Rome

张明

常驻粮农机构代表处

二秘 罗马

ZHANG MINGJIE

Second Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

**FAO** Rome

张明杰

常驻粮农机构代表处

二秘

罗马

B6 CL 133/REP

CHEN CHANGBING Lida Lambert BALLOU Second Secretary Conseiller Alternate Permanent Representative to Représentant permanent adjoint auprès de **FAO** la FAO Rome Rome 陈常兵 **CUBA** 常驻粮农机构代表处 Representante 二秘 Enrique MORET ECHEVERRÍA 罗马 Embajador Representante Permanente ante la FAO PANG YULIANG Roma Third Secretary Alternate Permanent Representative to Suplente(s) **FAO** José A. QUINTERO GÓMEZ Rome Especialista Dirección de Organismos Económicos 庞玉良 Internationales 常驻粮农机构代表处 Ministerio para la Inversión Extranjera y 三秘 la Colaboración Económica (MINVEC) 罗马 La Habana **ZHAO LIJUN** مصر - EGYPT - ÉGYPTE - EGIPTO Officer Department of International Cooperation Representative Ministry of Agriculture Mohamed Ashraf GAMAL ELDIN Beijing **RASHED** Ambassador 赵立军 Permanent Representative to FAO 农业部 Rome ممثل محمد أشرف جمال الدين رشيد السفير الممثل الدائم لدى المنظمة روما 国际合作司 副主任科员 北京 CÔTE D'IVOIRE Représentant Alternate(s) Richard Gbaka ZADY Abdel Aziz Mohamed HOSNI ABDEL Ambassadeur **AZIZ** Représentant permanent auprès de la FAO Counsellor Rome Deputy Permanent Representative to FAO Rome Suppléant(s) Aboubakar BAKAYOKO عبد العزيز محمد حسني عبد العزيز المستشار نائب الممثل الدائم لدى المنظمة Conseiller Représentant permanent adjoint auprès de la FAO Rome

Raafat Salah EL-DIN ZAKI General Director International Organizations and

Conferences Department

Foreign Agricultural Relations

Cairo

رأفت صلاح الدين زكي مدير عام ادارة المنظمات الدولية والمؤتمرات العلاقات الزراعية الخارجية وزارة الزراعة واستصلاح الأراضي القاهرة

Yasser ABDEL RAHMAN SOROUR Second Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

ياسر عبد الرحمن سرور السكرتير الثاني الممثل الدائم المناوب لدى المنظمة روما

#### EL SALVADOR

#### Representante

Mario Ernesto SALAVERRÍA Ministro de Agricultura y Ganadería San Salvador

#### Suplente(s)

José Roberto ANDINO SALAZAR Embajador Representante Permanente ante la FAO Roma

Sra. María Eulalia JIMÉNEZ DE MOCHI ONORI Ministro Consejero

Representante Permanente Adjunto ante la FAO

Roma

Sra. Beatriz MOLINA DE NORBY Consejero Embajada de El Salvador ante Italia

Embajada de El Salvador ante Italia Roma

#### ERITREA - ÉRYTHRÉE

Representative

Zemede Tekle WOLDETATIOS

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Alternate(s)

Yohannes TENSUE

First Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO

Rome

#### ETHIOPIA - ÉTHIOPIE - ETIOPÍA

Representative

Abreha Ghebrai ASEFFA

Minister Plenipotentiary

Deputy Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Alternate(s)

Beide MELAKU

Counsellor

Embassy of the Federal Democratic

Republic of Ethiopia

Rome

#### FRANCE - FRANCIA

Représentant

Mme Mireille GUIGAZ

Ambassadeur

Représentante permanente auprès de la

FAO

Rome

Suppléant(s)

Jean-Jacques SOULA

Conseiller scientifique

Représentant permanent suppléant auprès

de la FAO

Rome

Daniel MERKEZ

Département des Nations Unies et des

organisations internationales

Ministère des affaires étrangères

**Paris** 

B8 CL 133/REP

Denis QUENELLE

Rédacteur

Sous-direction des affaires budgétaires etdes contributions internationales Ministère des affaires étrangères

**Paris** 

Mme Isabelle OUILLON Ministère de l'agriculture et de la pêche Paris

#### GABON - GABÓN

Représentant

Faustin BOUKOUBI Ministre d'État Ministre de l'agriculture, de l'élevage et du développement rural Libreville

Suppléant(s)

Rome

Noël BAÏOT Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent auprès de la FAO Rome

Mme Ivone ALVES DIAS DA GRAÇA Premier Conseiller Représentant permanent adjoint auprès de la FAO Rome

Louis Stanislas CHARICAUTH Conseiller Représentant permanent suppléant auprès de la FAO

Patrice YEMBA
Secrétaire Général permanent de la
Commission nationale FAO
Ministère de l'agriculture, de l'élevage et
du développement rural
Libreville

Abel LENGOTA
Assistant du Ministre
Ministère de l'agriculture, de l'élevage et
du développement rural
Libreville

# GERMANY - ALLEMAGNE - ALEMANIA

Representative

Hans-Heinrich WREDE

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Alternate(s)

Heiner THOFERN First Counsellor

Deputy Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Ms Swantje HELBING Head of Division Federal Ministry of Consumer Protection, Food and Agriculture Berlin

#### INDIA - INDE

Representative

Rajiv DOGRA Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Alternate(s)

Ramalingam PARASURAM Minister (Agriculture) Alternate Permanent Representative to

Alternate Fermanent Representative to

FAO Rome

Ms M. HARIKIRAN

Section Officer

Department of Agriculture and

Cooperation New Delhi

Harpal SINGH

Assistant

Embassy of India

#### INDONESIA - INDONÉSIE

Representative

Sutarto ALIMOESO

Director-General of Food Crops

Ministry of Agriculture

Jakarta

Alternate(s)

**HERMANTO** 

Secretary of the Agency for Food Security

Ministry of Agriculture

Jakarta

Ms Siti Nugraha MAULUDIAH

First Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

Purnomo Ahmad CHANDRA

First Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

Farid Hasan BAKTIR

Deputy Director

International Cooperation Bureau

Ministry of Agriculture

Jakarta

Erizal SODIKIN

Agriculture Attaché

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

Ms Tika WIHANASARI

Head of Agriculture Section

Directorate of Trade, Industry, Investment

and Intellectual Property Rights Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Jakarta

IRAN (ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF) – IRAN (RÉPUBLIQUE ISLAMIQUE D') -IRÁN (REPÚBLICA ISLÁMICA DEL)

Representative

Javad Shakhs TAVAKOLIAN

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Alternate(s)

Seyed MORTEZA ZAREI

Attaché

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

ITALY - ITALIE - ITALIA

Représentant

Romualdo BETTINI

Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent auprès de la FAO

Rome

Suppléant(s)

Paolo DUCCI

Ministère des affaires étrangères

Rome

Mme Rita Giuliana MANNELLA

Conseiller

Représentant permanent adjoint auprès de

la FAO Rome

Mme Marina CALVINO

Ministère pour les politiques agricoles,

alimentaires et forestières

Rome

Mme Jessyama FORLINI

Ministère pour les politiques agricoles,

alimentaires et forestières

Rome

Alessandro GASTON

Ministère des affaires étrangères

B10 CL 133/REP

Pier Giuseppe FACELLI Ministère de la santé Rome

#### JAPAN - JAPON - JAPÓN

Representative

Yuji NAKAMURA

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Alternate(s)

Toru GOMI Deputy-Director

Economic Security Division Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Tokyo

Seiichi YOKOI Minister Counsellor

Deputy Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Tetsuva KAWASHIMA

First Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

Yukihiro UMESHITA Second Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

#### لبنان - LEBANON - LIBAN - LÍBANO

Représentant

Abir ALI

Premier Secrétaire

Représentant permanent suppléant auprès

de la FAO Rome

> الممثل عبير علي السكرتير الأول الممثل الدائم المناوب لدى المنظمة روما

#### **MADAGASCAR**

Représentant

Monsieur MONJA

Conseiller

Représentant permanent adjoint auprès de

la FAO Rome

#### MALAYSIA - MALAISIE - MALASIA

Representative

Dato' Zulkifli Bin IDRIS

Secretary General

Ministry of Agriculture and Agro-Based

Industry Kuala Lumpur

Alternate(s)

Sabtu Bin SLAMAT

Director

Horticulture Division

Department of Agriculture

Kuala Lumpur

Raj R.D. NATHAN

Undersecretary

Ministry of Agriculture and Agro-Based

Industry Kuala Lumpur

Johari BIN RAMLI

Agricultural Attaché

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

Amri BIN ISMAIL

Assistant Agricultural Attaché

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

#### MALI - MALÍ

Représentant

Ibrahim Bocar DAGA

Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent auprès de la FAO

Suppléant(s)

Modibo Mahamane TOURÉ

Deuxième Conseiller

Représentant permanent adjoint auprès de

la FAO Rome

#### **MALTA - MALTE**

Representative

Walter BALZAN

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Alternate(s)

Ms Ritienne BONAVIA

First Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

#### **MEXICO - MEXIQUE - MÉXICO**

Representante

Jorge Eduardo CHEN CHARPENTIER

Embajador

Representante Permanente ante la FAO

Roma

Suplente(s)

Diego Alonso SIMANCAS GUTÍERREZ

Segundo Secretario

Representante Permanente Alterno ante la

FAO Roma

#### **MOLDOVA**

# NETHERLANDS - PAYS-BAS - PAÍSES BAJOS

Representative

Agnes VAN ARDENNE-VAN DER

HOEVEN Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Alternate(s)

Theo VAN BANNING

Counsellor

Deputy Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Ms Desiree HAGENAARS

Policy Officer

International Affairs Department

Ministry of Agriculture, Nature and Food

Quality The Hague

Ms Marjolein GEUSEBROEK

Second Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

Ms Marianne SINKE

Policy Officer The Hague

#### NIGERIA - NIGÉRIA

Representative

Ms A.I. PEPPLE

Permanent Secretary

Federal Ministry of Agriculture and Water

Resources Abuja

Alternate(s)

Salisu INGAWA

Director

Project Co-ordinating Unit

Federal Ministry of Agriculture and Water

Resources Abuja

S. NEGEDU

Director

Federal Department of Agriculture

Federal Ministry of Agriculture and Water

Resources Abuja

Ibrahim AHLAJI MAIRIGA

Special Assistant to the Minister for

Agriculture and Rural Development Federal Ministry of Agriculture and Water

Resources

Abuja

B12 CL 133/REP

Charles M. WALI

Special Assistant to the Permanent

Secretary

Federal Ministry of Agriculture and Water

Resources Abuja

Azeez MUSIBALU OLUMUYIWA

Desk Officer

Federal Ministry of Agriculture and Water

Resources Abuja

Yaya O.A. OLANIRAN

Minister

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

#### عمان - OMÁN - عمان

Representative

Said AL HARTHI

Ambassador to Italy

Rome

ممثل سعيد الحارثي السفير لدى ايطاليا روما

Alternate(s)

Saoud AL BADDAIE

Director

Minister's Office

Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries

Muscat

ناوب سعود البادعي مدير مكتب الوزير وزارة الزراعة مسقط

Rasmi MAHMOUD

Technical Advisor

Embassy of the Sultanate of Oman

Rome

رسمي محمود مستشار فني سفارة سلطنة عمان روما

#### PAKISTAN - PAKISTÁN

Representative

Seerat ASGHAR

Joint Secretary (Food)

Ministry of Food, Agriculture and

Livestock

Islamabad

Aamir Ashraf KHAWAJA

Agriculture Counsellor

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO

Rome

#### PANAMA - PANAMÁ

Representante

Eudoro Jaén ESQUIVEL

Embajador

Representante Permanente ante la FAO

Roma

Suplente(s)

Jorge Luis ALEMÁN ALFARO

Director de Cooperación Internacional

Ministerio de Desarrollo Agropecuario

Panamá

Horacio J. MALTEZ

Ministro Consejero

Representante Permanente Adjunto ante

la FAO

Roma

#### REPUBLIC OF KOREA – RÉPUBLIQUE DE CORÉE – REPÚBLICA DE COREA

Representative

KIM Chang-hyun

Director

Multilateral Cooperation Division

Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry

Seoul

Alternate(s)

SEO Hae-dong

First Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO

KANG Seung-gyoo Assistant Director Multilateral Cooperation Division Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry Seoul

CHO Chae-moon Korea FAO Association Seoul

#### SAUDI ARABIA - ARABIE SAOUDITE -ARABIA SAUDITA – المملكة العربية السعودية

#### Representative

Bandar Ben Abdel Mohsin AL-SHALHOOB

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

متل بندر بن عبد المحسن الشلهوب الممثل الدائم لدى المنظمة روما

#### Alternate(s)

Abdulaziz AL HOWEISH Director External Relations

Ministry of Agriculture

Riyadh

ناوب عبد العزيز العويش مدير العلاقات الخارجية وزارة الزراعة الرياض

#### SLOVENIA - SLOVÉNIE - ESLOVENIA

#### Representative

Mrs Bojana HOCEVAR

Advisor

Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and

Food Ljubljana

#### Alternate(s)

Leon MEGUSAR

Advisor

Department of International Relations and

**Development Assistance** 

Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and

Food Ljubljana

#### SOUTH AFRICA - AFRIQUE DU SUD -SUDÁFRICA

#### Representative

Masiphula MBONGWA

Director-General

Department of Agriculture

Pretoria

#### Alternate(s)

Ms Vangile TITI

Deputy Director-General Department of Agriculture

Pretoria

#### Lenin MAGIGWANE SHOPE

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

#### Ms Sebueng KELATWANG

Director

International Relations

Department of Agriculture

Pretoria

#### Ms Njabulo NDULI

Counsellor Agricultural Affairs

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

#### Ms Bongeka MDLELENI

Personal Assistant to Director-General

Department of Agriculture

Pretoria

#### SWEDEN - SUÈDE - SUECIA

#### Representative

Tommie SJÖBERG Deputy Director-General Ministry of Agriculture

Stockholm

B14 CL 133/REP

Alternate(s)

Christer WRETBORN

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Anders KLUM

Director

Ministry of Agriculture

Stockholm

Mrs Tina LINDSTRÖM

Senior Administrative Officer

Ministry of Agriculture

Stockholm

Ms Margaretha ARNESSON-CIOTTI

Programme Officer

Embassy of Sweden

Rome

Andreas DAVELID

Administrative Officer

Swedish Board of Agriculture

Stockholm

#### THAILAND - THAÏLANDE -TAILANDIA

Representative

Pinit KORSIEPORN

Deputy Permanent Secretary

Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives

Bangkok

Alternate(s)

Mrs Tritaporn KHOMAPAT

Minister (Agriculture)

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Kasem PRASUTSANGCHAN

Senior Policy and Plan Analyst

Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives

Bangkok

Mrs Sairak CHAILANGGAR

First Secretary (Agriculture)

Deputy Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Piyawat NAIGOWIT

Policy and Plan Analyst

Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives

Bangkok

#### TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO – TRINITÉ-ET-TOBAGO – TRINIDAD Y TABAGO

Representative

Dennis FRANCIS

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Geneva

#### **UKRAINE - UCRANIA**

Representative

Georgiy CHERNYAVSKYI

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Alternate(s)

Mrs Oksana DRAMARETSKA

First Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO

Rome

Oleg HRYTSAENKO

Counsellor

Embassy of Ukraine

Rome

UNITED ARAB EMIRATES – ÉMIRATS ARABES UNIS – EMIRATOS ÁRABES UNIDOS – الإمارات العربية المتحدة

Alternate(s)

Ibrahim Abdel RAHMAN

Director of the Eastern Region

Ministry of Environment and Water

Abu Dhabi

المناوب ابراهيم عبد الرحمن مدير المنطقة الشرقيا وزارة البيئة والمياه أبوظبي

Habib AL ABDOUDI

Director of Planning

Ministry of Environment and Water Abu Dhabi

حبيب العبودي مدير التخطيط وزارة البيئة والمياه أبوظبي

Walid Murad Darwish ALRAISI

First Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

وليد مراد درويش الرايسي السكرتير الأول الممثل الدائم المناوب لدى المنظمة روما

Mirghani Hassan OBEID ALI Embassy of the United Arab Emirates Rome

مير غني حسن عبيد علي سفارة الإمارات العربية المتحدة روما

## UNITED KINGDOM - ROYAUME-UNI - REINO UNIDO

Representative

James HARVEY

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Alternate(s)

Victor Charles Dunlop HEARD

First Secretary

Deputy Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Mark RUSH

Desk Officer for UN Specialised

Agencies

International Organizations Department Foreign and Commonwealth Office

London

Ms Elizabeth NASSKAU

Deputy Permanent Representative to

**IFAD** 

Permanent Representation to the UN

Agencies for Food and Agriculture

Rome

Ms Fiona PRYCE

Information Manager and FAO

Programme Support

Permanent Representation to the UN

Agencies for Food and Agriculture

Rome

Ms Nicolette CIORBA

Office Manager

Permanent Representation to the UN

Agencies for Food and Agriculture

Rome

#### UNITED STATES OF AMERICA -ÉTATS-UNIS D'AMÉRIQUE – ESTADOS UNIDOS DE AMÉRICA

Representative

Gaddi H. VASQUEZ

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Alternate(s)

Lee A. BRUDVIG

Minister Counsellor

Deputy Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

George DOUVELIS

International Relations Advisor

International Organizations, Multilateral

Negotiations and International

Agreements Division

Office of Negotiations and Agreements

Foreign Agricultural Service

Department of Agriculture

Washington, D.C.

David HEGWOOD

Minister Counsellor for Agriculture

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO

B16 CL 133/REP

Ms Sharon KOTOK

Foreign Affairs Officer

Office of Economic and Development

**Affairs** 

Bureau of International Organization

**Affairs** 

Department of State Washington, D.C.

Ms Carol KRAMER-LEBLANC

International Organizations, Multilateral

Negotiations and International

Agreements Division

Office of Negotiations and Agreements

Foreign Agricultural Service Department of Agriculture

Washington, D.C.

Rich NEWBERG

Humanitarian Affairs Attaché

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

Ms Usha PITTS

First Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

Robert RIEMENSCHNEIDER

Deputy Administrator

Office of Negotiations and Agreements

Foreign Agricultural Service Department of Agriculture

Washington, D.C.

Ms Harriet SPANOS

**Emergency Program Specialist** 

United States Agency for International

Development

United States Mission to the United

Nations Agencies for Food and

Agriculture Rome **URUGUAY** 

Representante

Tabaré BOCALANDRO YAPEYÚ

Ministro

Representante Permanente Adjunto ante

la FAO Roma

Suplente(s)

Gabriel BELLÓN

Subdirector

Dirección de Organismos Económicos

Internacionales

Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores

Montevideo

Sra. Gabriela CHIFFLET

Consejera

Representante Permanente Alterno ante la

FAO Roma

ZAMBIA - ZAMBIE

Representative

Ben KAPITA

Minister for Agriculture and Cooperatives

Lusaka

Alternate(s)

Mrs Lucy Mungoma MUNGOMA

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Julius J. SHAWA

Director

Policy and Planning

Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives

Lusaka

Green MBOZI

Director for Agribusiness and Marketing Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives

winnship of Agriculture and Coopera

Lusaka

Charles MAGUSWI

Director for Fisheries

Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives

Lusaka

Richard KAMONA

Deputy-Director for Agriculture

Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives

Lusaka

Ms Emma MALAWO

Deputy-Director for Policy Analysis and

Statistics

Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives

Lusaka

Albert CHALABESA

Deputy Director for ZARI

Lusaka

Willie O. NDEMBELA

Counsellor

Alternate Permanent Representative to

**FAO** 

Rome

EUROPEAN COMMUNITY (MEMBER ORGANIZATION) – COMMUNAUTÉ EUROPÉENNE (ORGANISATION MEMBRE) -COMUNIDAD EUROPEA (ORGANIZACIÓN MIEMBRO)

#### Représentant

Luis RITTO

Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent auprès de la FAO

Rome

#### Suppléant(s)

Renaud-François MOULINIER

Premier Conseiller

Représentant permanent suppléant auprès

de la FAO

Rome

Thierry NÈGRE

Conseiller

Représentant permanent suppléant auprès

de la FAO

Rome

Mme Soline DE VILLARD

Conseiller

Representant permanent suppléant auprès

de la FAO

Rome

B18 CL 133/REP

## المراقبون من الدول الأعضاء غير الأعضاء في المجلس

非理事会成员的成员国观察员

# OBSERVERS FROM MEMBER NATIONS NOT MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL OBSERVATEURS D'ETATS MEMBRES NE SIEGENT PAS AU CONSEIL OBSERVADORES DE LOS ESTADOS MIEMBROS QUE NO SON MIEMBROS DEL CONSEJO

#### **ANGOLA**

Manuel Pedro PACAVIRA

Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent auprès de la FAO

Rome

Kiala Kia MATEVA

Conseiller

Représentant permanent adjoint auprès de

la FAO Rome

Carlos Alberto AMARAL

Conseiller

Représentant permanent suppléant auprès

de la FAO

Rome

Mme Maria Celestina PACAVIRA

Assistante pour les affaires internationales Ambassade de la République d'Angola

Rome

#### ARMENIA - ARMÉNIE

Zohrab V. MALEK

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

#### **AUSTRIA - AUTRICHE**

Ms Hedwig WÖGERBAUER

Director

Head of Division for FAO, OECD, Food Aid and Economic Provision Affairs

Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry,

Environment and Water Management

Vienna

Ms Natalie FEISTRITZER

Counsellor (Agricultural Affairs)

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

#### **BOTSWANA**

Kebabope LALETSANG

**Acting Director** 

Ministry of Agriculture

Gaborone

Molathegi MODISE

Director of Crop Production

Ministry of Agriculture

Gaborone

#### **BURKINA FASO**

Boubakar CISSE

Conseiller économique

Représentant permanent adjoint auprès de

la FAO

Rome

#### **BURUNDI**

Jean de Dieu MUTABAZI

Ministre de l'agriculture et de l'élevage

Bujumbura

Léopold NDAYISABA

Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent auprès de la FAO

Rome

Anatole NTEZIYAREMYE

Conseiller au cabinet du Ministre

Ministère de l'agriculture et de l'élevage

Bujumbura

#### **COLOMBIA - COLOMBIE**

Sabas PRETELT DE LA VEGA

Embajador

Representante Permanente ante la FAO

Roma

Francisco José COY GRANADOS

Ministro Plenipotenciario

Representante Permanente Adjunto ante la

FAO Roma

Sra. Beatriz CALVO VILLEGAS

Primer Secretario

Representante Permanente Adjunto ante la

FAO Roma

#### **CONGO**

Mamadou DEKAMO KAMARA

Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent auprès de la FAO

Rome

Emile ESSEMA

Deuxième Conseiller

Représentant permanent suppléant auprès

de la FAO Rome

#### **COSTA RICA**

Luis París CHAVERRI

Embajador

Representante Permanente ante la FAO

Roma

#### **CROATIA - CROATIE - CROACIA**

Mrs Zlata PENIC IVANKO

First Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

#### **CYPRUS - CHYPRE - CHIPRE**

George F. POULIDES

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Gabriel ODYSSEOS

Agricultural Attaché

Deputy Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF THE

CONGO -

RÉPUBLIQUE DÉMOCRATIQUE DU

CONGO -

REPÚBLICA DEMOCRÁTICA DEL

**CONGO** 

Innocent Mokosa MANDENDE

Ministre Conseiller

Représentant permanent adjoint auprès de

la FAO

Rome

# DENMARK - DANEMARK - DINAMARCA

Søren SKAFTE

Minister

Deputy Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

#### DOMINICAN REPUBLIC -RÉPUBLIQUE DOMINICAINE -REPÚBLICA DOMINICANA

Mario ARVELO CAAMAÑO

Embajador

Representante Permanente ante la FAO

Roma

Sra. Yanina GRATEREAUX

Ministra Consejera

Representante Permanente Alterna ante la

FAO

Roma

Héctor Manuel MARTÍNEZ

FERNÁNDEZ

Ministro Consejero

Representante Permanente Alterno ante la

FAO

Roma

#### **ECUADOR - ÉQUATEUR**

Serena VIVIANI

Embajada de la República del Ecuador

Roma

B20 CL 133/REP

#### EQUATORIAL GUINEA – GUINÉE ÉQUATORIALE – GUINEA ECUATORIAL

Pascual BACALE MBIANG

Embajador

Representante Permanente ante la FAO

Roma

Salomón NFA NDONG

Director General de Agricultura

Ministerio de Agricultura y Bosques

Malabo

Gabriel Martín ESONO NDONG

Jefe de Sección

Ministerio de Agricultura y Bosques

Malabo

#### FINLAND - FINLANDE - FINLANDIA

Ms Marja-Liisa TAPIO-BISTRÖM

Senior Adviser

Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry

Helsinki

Ms Riikka LAATU

Minister Counsellor

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

#### **GAMBIA - GAMBIE**

Amadou SOWE

Permanent Secretary

Department of State for Agriculture

Banjul

#### GREECE - GRÈCE - GRECIA

**Emmanuel MANOUSSAKIS** 

Minister Plenipotentiary (Agricultural

Affairs)

Alternate Permanent Representative to

**FAO** 

Rome

#### **GUATEMALA**

Sra. Ileana RIVERA DE ANGOTTI

Ministro Consejero

Representante Permanente Adjunto ante la

FAO

Roma

#### **GUINEA - GUINÉE**

El-Hadi Thierno Mamadou Cellou

**DIALLO** 

Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent auprès de la FAO

Rome

Abdoulaye TRAORE

Conseiller economique

Représentant permanent suppléant auprès

de la FAO

Rome

#### HAITI - HAÏTI - HAITÍ

Yvon SIMÉON

Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent auprès de la FAO

Rome

**Emmanuel CHARLES** 

Ministre Conseiller

Représentant permanent adjoint auprès de

la FAO

Rome

Carl Benny RAYMOND

Conseiller

Représentant permanent suppléant auprès

de la FAO

Rome

#### **HONDURAS**

Sra. Mayra REINA DE TITTA

Conseiero

Representante Permanente Alterno ante la

FAO

Roma

#### **HUNGARY - HONGRIE - HUNGRÍA**

Zoltán KÁLMÁN

Counsellor

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

#### العراق - IRAQ

Akram H. AL-JAFF

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

أكرم الجاف السفير والممثل الدائم لدى المنظمة روما

#### IRELAND - IRLANDE - IRLANDA

Seán O'HUIGINN

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Padraic DEMPSEY

First Secretary (Agriculture)

Deputy Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Ms Siobhán DOWLING

**Higher Executive Officer** 

Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and

Food

Agriculture House

Dublin

Ms Maria Teresa GEMMA

Agricultural Assistant

Embassy of Ireland

Rome

# JORDAN - JORDANIE - JORDANIA - الأردن

Qais SHQAIR

Counsellor

Deputy Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

قيس شقير المستشار مناوب الممثل الدائم لدى المنظمة روما

#### **KENYA**

Ms Ann Belinda NYIKULI

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Simon KIMANI

Deputy Director

**Veterinary Services** 

Ministry of Livestock and Fisheries

Development

Nairobi

Samuel YEGON

**Deputy Director** 

**Livestock Production** 

Nairobi

Ms Beatrice KINGORI

Deputy Director of Agriculture

Ministry of Agriculture

Nairobi

Ms Jacinta NGWIRI

Agricultural Attaché

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO

Rome

Esther MATHENGE

Conservator of Forests

Kenya Forest Service

Ministry of Environment and Natural

Resources

Nairobi

B22 CL 133/REP

Charles KOSKE
Director of Irrigation
Ministry of Water and Irrigation
Nairobi

Godfrey V. MONOR
Deputy Director
Fisheries Department
Ministry of Livestock and Fisheries
Development
Nairobi

#### الكويت - KUWAIT - KOWEÏT

Ali Khaled AL-SABAH Director Economic Department Ministry of Foreign Affairs Kuwait City

> علي خالد الصباح مدير ادارة الشؤون الاقتصادية وزارة الشؤون الخارجية مدينة الكويت

Mrs Lamya Ahmed AL-SAQQAF Counsellor Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

السيدة لمياء أحمد السقاف المستشار والممثل الدائم لدى المنظمة روما

Faisal AL-HASAWI Second Secretary Permanent Representation of the State of Kuwait to FAO Rome

فيصل الحساوي السكرتير الثاني الممثلية الدائمة لدولة الكويت لدى المنظمة روما

Ms Manar Sabah Mohammad AL-SABAH Attaché

Alternate Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

السيدة منار صباح محمد الصباح الملحق والممثل الدائم المناوب لدى المنظمة روما Ilham NAJIM

Permanent Representation of the State of Kuwait to FAO

Rome

السيدة الهام نجم الممثلية الدائمة لدولة الكويت لدى المنظمة روما

Ms Eleonara GAUDIOSI
Permanent Representation of the State of
Kuwait to FAO
Rome

السيدة الينورا غواديوزي الممثلية الدائمة لدولة الكويت لدى المنظمة روما

#### **LESOTHO**

Mrs Mantho MOTSELEBANE Director of Agriculture Planning Ministry of Agriculture and Food Security Maseru

Mrs Mamosala SEMAKALENG SHALE First Secretary Alternate Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

#### LITHUANIA - LITUANIE - LITUANIA

Sarunas ADOMAVICIUS Ambassador Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

Ms Regina GIRDVAINYTÈ Attaché (Agricultural Affairs) Deputy Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

## MAURITANIA - MAURITANIE -موریتانیا

Mme Marièm MINT MOHAMED AHMEDOU Premier Conseiller Représentant permanent suppléant auprès de la FAO Rome

#### **MAURITIUS - MAURICE - MAURICIO**

Denis CANGY

Consul

Consulate of Mauritius

Rome

# MOROCCO - MAROC - MARRUECOS - المغرب

Tajeddine BADDOU

Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent auprès de la FAO

Rome

تاج الدين بادو السفير الممثل الدائم لدى المنظمة روما

Mohamed AIT HMID Ministre plénipotentiaire

Représentant permanent adjoint auprès de

la FAO Rome

محمد آیت حمید الوزیر المفوض الممثل الدائم المناوب لدی المنظمة روما

#### **MYANMAR**

Tin Htut OO Director-General

Department of Agricultural Planning Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation

Nay Pyi Taw

Khin Ko LAY

Deputy Director-General Department of Fisheries

Ministry of Livestock and Fisheries

Yangon

Hlaing MYINT OO

Counsellor

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome Mrs Sandar TIN

Second Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO Rome

#### NEW ZEALAND – NOUVELLE-ZÉLANDE – NUEVA ZELANDIA

Neil FRASER

Manager

International Liaison Policy Service Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry

Wellington

#### NIGER - NÍGER

Mireille Fatouma AUSSEIL

Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent auprès de la FAO

Rome

Zakariaou ADAM MAIGA

Premier Conseiller

Représentant permanent adjoint auprès de

la FAO Rome

#### NORWAY - NORVÈGE - NORUEGA

Ms Arne B. HØNNINGSTAD

Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Mrs Nina MOSSEBY

Advisor

Ministry of Agriculture and Food

Oslo

Ms Anne Kristin HERMANSEN

Senior Advisor

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Oslo

Daniel VAN GILST

First Secretary

Deputy Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

B24 CL 133/REP

#### PERU - PÉROU - PERÚ

Ismael BENAVIDES FERREYROS Ministro de Agricultura Lima

Carlos ROCA CÁCERES Embajador Representante Permanente ante la FAO Roma

Félix Ricardo DENEGRI BOZA Ministro Representante Permanente Adjunto ante la FAO Roma

Manuel Antonio ÁLVAREZ ESPINAL Consejero Representante Permanente Alterno ante la FAO Roma

Jorge PONCE SAN ROMÁN Primer Secretario Representante Permanente Alterno ante la FAO Roma

Sra. Giannina ASTOLFI REPETTO Segunda Secretaria Representante Permanente Alterno ante la FAO Roma

#### **PHILIPPINES - FILIPINAS**

Emmanuel Elmo R. FERNANDEZ Third Secretary Alternate Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

#### **POLAND - POLOGNE - POLONIA**

Ryszard WOJTAL Minister Counsellor Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

#### **PORTUGAL**

José Luis COELHO SILVA Expert on FAO Matters Ministry of Foreign Affairs Lisbon

Mrs Rita LOURENÇO Technical Advisor on FAO Matters Embassy of the Portuguese Republic Rome

## قطر - QATAR

Soltan Saad AL-MORAKHI Ambassador Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

سلطان بن سعد المريخي السفير الممثل الدائم لدى المنظمة روما

Sheikh Khalid bin Hamad AL-THANI Counsellor Alternate Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

شيخ خالد بن حمد آل ثاني المستشار والممثل الدائم المناوب لدى المنظمة روما

Mubarek Nasser AL-KHALIFA First Secretary Alternate Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

مبارك ناصر الخليفة سكرتير أول الممثل الدائم المناوب لدى المنظمة روما

#### Akeel EL KHALDI

**Expert** 

International Organizations Affairs Embassy of the State of Qatar

Rome

عقيل الخالدي خبير في شؤون المنظمات الدولية سفارة دولة قطر روما

#### RUSSIAN FEDERATION – FÉDÉRATION DE RUSSIE -FEDERACIÓN DE RUSIA

Alexey Y. MESHKOV

Ambassador Extraordinary and

Plenipotentiary of the Russian Federation

to Italy

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

Evgeny F. UTKIN

First Secretary

Acting Deputy Permanent Representative

to FAO

Rome

Gennady A. KISELEV

First Secretary

Department of International Organizations

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Moscow

Arsen M. VARTANYAN

Second Secretary

Alternate Permanent Representative to

**FAO** 

Rome

Alexander V. YAKIMUSHKIN

Head of Division

Cooperation with International

Organizations and Foreign Representations

Ministry of Agriculture

Moscow

#### SAN MARINO - SAINT-MARIN

Mrs Daniela ROTONDARO

Counsellor

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

#### SENEGAL - SÉNÉGAL

Adama BA

Deuxième Conseiller

Représentant permanent adjoint auprès de

la FAO

Rome

#### SIERRA LEONE - SIERRA LEONA

Elio PACIFICO

Consul General

Alternate Permanent Representative to

FAO

Rome

#### SLOVAKIA - SLOVAQUIE -ESLOVAQUIA

Mrs Zora WEBEROVA

Foreign Relations Department

Ministry of Agriculture

Bratislava

Milan KOVÁC

Counsellor

Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

#### SPAIN - ESPAGNE - ESPAÑA

Luis CALVO MERINO

Embajador de España

Roma

Alberto LÓPEZ GARCÍA-ASENJO

Representante Permanente Adjunto ante la

FAO

Roma

Ángel OROZCO GÓMEZ

Agregado

Representante Permanente Alterno ante la

FAO

Roma

Sra. Pilar VILLALBA CORTIJO

Jefe de Servicio de Relaciones Agrarias

Internacionales

Ministerio de Agricultura, Pesca y

Alimentación

Madrid

B26 CL 133/REP

Sra. Icíar RUIZ CASTILLO

Técnica

Embajada de España

(Oficina de los Representantes Permanentes

Adjunto y Alterno)

Roma

#### **SRI LANKA**

Mrs Saranya Hasanthi Urugodawatte DISSANAYAKE Minister Counsellor Alternate Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

#### السودان - SUDAN - SOUDAN - SUDÁN

Mohamed ELTAYEB ELFAKI EL NOR Counsellor Permanent Representative to FAO

Rome

محمد الطيب الفاقي نور المستشار والممثل الدائم لدى المنظمة روما

Mohamed Hassan JUBARA MOHAMED Director-General

International Cooperation and Investment Directorate

Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry Khartoum

محمد حسن جبارة محمد مدير عام مديرية التعاون الدولي والاستثمار وزارة الزراعة والغابات الخرطوم

Amal KABEER

Federal Ministry of Finance and National Economy

Khartoum

أمل كبير الوزير الاتحادي للمالية والاقتصاد الوطني الخرطوم

#### SWAZILAND - SWAZILANDIA

Christopher T. NKWANYANA Acting Principal Secretary Ministry of Agriculture and Co-operatives Mbabane

Ms Janet MZUNGU Senior Finance Officer Ministry of Agriculture and Co-operatives Mbabane

George M. NDLANGAMANDLA Director of Agriculture Ministry of Agriculture and Co-operatives Mbabane

#### SWITZERLAND - SUISSE - SUIZA

**Hubert POFFET** 

Collaborateur scientifique de la section agriculture durable internationale Office fédéral de l'agriculture Berne

Mme Marie MARCHAND Chargée de programme Direction du développement et de la coopération Berne

Hans-Jorge LEHMANN Ministre Représentant permanent de la FAO Rome

#### **TOGO**

Yawo Sèfe GOGOVOR Chef Division contrôle phytosanitaire Direction de l'agriculture Ministère de l'agriculture, de l'élevage et de la pêche Lomé

Kossi AHOEDO

Chef Section Ressources halieutiques Direction de l'élevage et de la pêche Ministère de l'agriculture, de l'élevage et de la pêche Lomé

#### **TONGA**

PENISIMANI VEA

Director of Agriculture and Food, Forests and Fisheries Ministry of Agriculture, Food, Forestry and Fisheries Nuku'alofa

#### تونس - TUNISIA - TUNISIE - TÚNEZ

Abdelhamid ABID

Conseiller chargé du dossier de coopération de la Tunisie avec les Institutions multilatérales établies à Rome Représentant permanent suppléant auprès de la FAO Rome

عبد الحميد عبيد المسؤول عن التعاون بين تونس والمستشار المسؤول عن التعاون بين تونس والمنظمات المتعددة الأطراف في روما الممثل الدائم المناوب لدى المنظمة روما

#### TURKEY - TURQUIE - TURQUÍA

Yüksel YÜCEKAL Counsellor Alternate Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

#### **UGANDA - OUGANDA**

Deo K. RWABITA Ambassador Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

Ms Margaret KYOGIRE Deputy Head of Mission Rome

Robert SABIITI Agricultural Attaché First Secretary Alternate Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

#### UNITED REPUBLIC OF TANZANIA -RÉPUBLIQUE-UNIE DE TANZANIE -REPÚBLICA UNIDA DE TANZANÍA

Mrs Rahma MSHANGAMA Principal Secretary Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock and Environment Zanzibar

Wilfred Joesph NGIRWA Ambassador Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

Jones MELEWAS
Deputy Permanent Secretary
Ministry of Livestock Development
Dar-es-Salaam

Mrs Annuciata P. NJOMBE Director Animal Production and Marketing Ministry of Livestock Development Dar-es-Salaam

Ms Catherine JOSEPH Director Policy and Planning Ministry of Livestock Development Dar-es-Salaam

Ms Margaret Z. NDABA
Officer-in-Charge for Development,
Assistance and International Cooperation
Ministry of Agriculture, Food Security and
Cooperatives
Dar-es-Salaam

Ms Perpetua Mary Simon HINGI Agricultural Attaché Alternate Permanent Representative to FAO Rome B28 CL 133/REP

#### YEMEN - YÉMEN - البيمن

Abdurahman BAMATRAF Ambassador Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

> عبد الرحمن محمد بامطرف السفير والممثل الدائم لدى المنظمة روما

#### **ZIMBABWE**

Rugare GUMBO Minister for Agriculture Harare

Ms Mary Margaret MUCHADA Ambassador Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

T. DUBE Agricultural Economist Ministry of Agriculture Harare

Michael Muchenje NYERE Minister Counsellor Alternate Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

Shoniwa MUTAVA Advisor to the Minister for Agriculture Ministry of Agriculture Harare

CL 135/REI

# البلدان طالبة العضوية

成员资格申请国

# APPLICANTS FOR MEMBERSHIP ETATS AYANT UNE DEMANDE D'ADMISSION A LA QUALITE DE MEMBRE DE L'ORGANISATION ESTADOS QUES HAN PRESENTADO SOLICITUD DE INGRESO COMO MIEMBROS DE LA ORGANIZACIÓN

ANDORRA - ANDORRE

MONTENEGRO - MONTÉNÉGRO

الكرسي الرسولي HOLY SEE 教廷 SAINT-SIÈGE SANTA SEDE

The Right Reverend Monsignor Renato VOLANTE Permanent Observer to FAO Vatican City

Vincenzo BUONOMO Alternate Observer to FAO Vatican City

Lelio BERNARDI Adviser Vatican City

Giovanni TEDESCO Adviser Vatican City B30 CL 133/REP

# جماعة فرسان مالطة

马耳他自治社

### SOVEREIGN ORDER OF MALTA ORDRE SOUVERAIN DE MALTE SOBERANA ORDEN DE MALTA

Giuseppe BONANNO DI LINGUAGLOSSA Ambassadeur Observateur Permanent auprès de la FAO et des Agences des Nations Unies Rome

Mme Claude FORTHOMME Conseiller Rome

Mme Daniela MORO Conseiller Technique Rome

CL 135/REI

# ممثلو الأمم المتحدة والوكالات المتخصصة

联合国和各专门机构的代表

REPRESENTATIVES OF UNITED NATIONS AND SPECIALIZED AGENCIES REPRÉSENTANTES DES NATIONS UNIES ET INSTITUTIONS SPÉCIALISÉES REPRESENTANTES DE NACIONES UNIDAS Y ORGANISMOS ESPECIALIZADOS

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY AGENCE INTERNATIONALE DE L'ÉNERGIE ATOMIQUE ORGANISMO INTERNACIONAL DE ENERGÍA ATÓMICA

Qu LIANG Director

Joint FAO/IAEA Division of Nuclear Techniques in Food and Agriculture

Vienna

# المراقبون من المنظمات الدولية غير الحكومية

非政府组织观察员

OBSERVERS FROM NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS OBSERVATEURS DES ORGANISATIONS NON GOUVERNEMENTALES OBSERVADORES DE LAS ORGANIZACIONES INTERGUBERNAMENTALES

#### **ROTARY INTERNATIONAL**

Marco RANDONE Permanent Representative to FAO Rome

INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF AGRICULTURAL PRODUCERS FÉDÉRATION INTERNATIONALE DES PRODUCTEURS AGRICOLES FEDERACIÓN INTERNACIONAL DE PRODUCTORES AGRÍCOLAS

Nils FARNERT Advisor Paris

INTERNATIONAL NGO/CSO PLANNING COMMITTEE FOR FOOD SOVEREIGNITY COMITÉ INTERNATIONAL DE PLANIFICATION DES ONG/OSC POUR LA SOVERAINETÉ ALIMENTAIRE COMITÉ INTERNACIONAL DE PLANIFICATION DES ONG/OSC PARA LA SOBERANÍA ALIMENTARIA

Ana Ines TINNIRELLO Rome

# APPENDIX C

## LIST OF DOCUMENTS

CL 133/1	Provisional Annotated Agenda
CL 133/1-Add.1	Addendum to the Provisional Agenda as proposed by France
CL 133/2	Report of the Joint Meeting of the 98 <sup>th</sup> Session of the Programme Committee and the 119 <sup>th</sup> Session of the Finance Committee (Rome, September 2007)
CL 133/3	Report of the 98 <sup>th</sup> Session of the Programme Committee (Rome, 3-7 September 2007)
CL 133/4	Report of the 119 <sup>th</sup> Session of the Finance Committee (Rome, 3-7 September 2007)
CL 133/5	Report of the 82 <sup>nd</sup> Session of the Committee on Constitutional and Legal Matters (Rome, 25 October 2007)
CL 133/6	Adoption of Russian as a Language of FAO - Funding Modalities
CL 133/7	Change in Name of the Committee for Inland Fisheries of Africa
CL 133/8	Membership of the Programme Committee and Finance Committee
CL 133/9	Membership of the Committee on Constitutional and Legal Matters
CL 133/10	Membership of the World Food Programme Executive Board
CL 133/11	Report of the 120 <sup>th</sup> Session of the Finance Committee (Rome, 8 and 9 October 2007)
CL 133/12	Report of the Council Committee for the Independent External Evaluation of FAO (CC-IEE) to the 133 <sup>rd</sup> Session of the Council
C 2007 Series	
C 2007/3	Programme of Work and Budget (PWB) 2008-2009
C 2007/7 A.1-Rev.1	Report of the Independent External Evaluation of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

C2 CL 133/REP

C 2007/7 A.1-Corr.1	Report of the Independent External Evaluation of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
C 2007/7 A.2	Report of the Independent External Evaluation of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations - Annexes 2-4
C 2007/7 B	Report of the Independent External Evaluation of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations - Management Response "In-Principle"
C 2007/10	Applications for Membership and Associate Membership in the Organization
C 2007/12-Rev.1	Arrangements for the Thirty-fourth Session of the Conference
C 2007/12- Rev.1 Corr.1 (Chinese only)	Arrangements for the Thirty-fourth Session of the Conference
CL 133 INF Series	
CL 133/INF/1	Provisional Timetable
CL 133/INF/2	Provisional List of Delegates and Observers
CL 133/INF/3	Provisional List of Documents
CL 133/INF/4	Revised Calendar of FAO Governing Bodies and Other Main Sessions 2007-2008
CL 133/INF/5	Changes in Representation of Member Nations on the Programme and Finance Committees
CL 133/INF/6	Statement of Competence and Voting Rights Submitted by the European Community and its Member States
CL 133/INF/7	Implementation of Decisions taken at the 132nd Sessions of the Council
CL 133/INF/8	Reports of the International Technical Conference on Animal Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture (Interlaken, Switzerland, 3-7 September 2007) and of the Eleventh Regular Session of the Commission on Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture (Rome, 11-15 June 2007)
CL 133/INF/9	Reports of the International Technical Conference on Animal Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture (Interlaken, Switzerland, 3-7 September 2007) and of the Eleventh Regular Session of the Commission on Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture (Rome, 11-15 June 2007) (Background information note submitted by France)

### **CL 133 LIM Series**

CL 133/LIM/1 Status of Contributions and Arrears

CL 133/LIM/2 Measures to improve the Organization's Cash Shortage Situation

CL 133/REP/Series

CL 133/REP/1 to Draft Reports of Plenary

CL 133/REP/13

CL 133/PV/Series

CL 133/PV/1 to Verbatim Records of Plenary

CL 133/PV/4

CL 133/OD/Series

CL 133/OD/1 to Orders of the Day

CL 133/OD/3

#### APPENDIX D

# REVISED CALENDAR OF FAO GOVERNING BODIES AND OTHER MAIN SESSIONS 2007-2008

		2007		2008
JANUARY	117 FC	24		
FEBRUARY	ECOSOC 1	6	WFP	4-8
FEBRUARY	IFAD/GC	12-16	ECOSOC 1	5
	WFP	19-23	IFAD/GC	11-15
MARCH	27 COFI	5-9	29 NERC	1-5
MARCH	18 COFO	13-16	83 CCLM	17-18
			25 ARC	31/03-4/04
APRIL	81 CCLM	4-5	30 LARC	14-18
AFKIL	IFAD/EB	16-20	IFAD/EB	21-25
	66 CCP	23-25	IFAD/ED	21-23
	20 COAG	25-28		
MAY	33 CFS	7-10	29 APRC	19-23
IVIA I	118 FC	17-25	99 PC	26-30
	97 PC	21-25	121 FC	26-30
JUNE	WFP	4 - 8	WFP	9-13
JUNE	132 CL	18-22	26 ERC	23-27
IULY	ECOSOC 2	2	ECOSOC 2	
AUGUST				
SEPTEMBER	119 FC	3-7	IFAD/EB	8-12
SEFIENIDEK	98 PC	3-7	UNGA	16
	IFAD/EB	10-14	84 CCLM	29-30
	UNGA	18		
OCTOBER	120 FC*	8-9	122 FC	6-10
OCTOBER	WFD	16 (Tuesday)	100 PC	6-10
	WFP	22-26	34 CFS	13-17
	82 CCLM*	25-26	WFD	16 (Thursday)
			WFP	27-31
NOVEMBER	133 CL	14-16		
NOVENIDER	34 C	17-24	135 CL	17-21 (Tentative)
	134 CL	26		
DECEMBER	IFAD/EB	10-14	IFAD/EB	15-19

	Easter:	8 Apr 07		Easter:	23 March 08	
	Ramadan begins:	13 Sept 07		Ramadan begins:	2 Sept 08	
	Eid Al-Fitr:	12 Oct 07		Eid al Fitr:	1st Oct 08	
	Eid Al-Adha:	20 Dec 07		Eid Al-Adha:	8 Dec 08	
APRC	Regional Conference for Asia and the Pa	cific	ERC	Regional Conference	ce for Europe	
ARC	Regional Conference for Africa		FC	Finance Committee		
C	Conference		IFAD/EB	IFAD Executive Bo	oard	
CCLM	Committee on Constitutional and Legal I	Matters	IFAD/GC	IFAD Governing C	ouncil	
CCP	Committee on Commodity Problems		LARC	Regional Conference	ce for Latin America and	
CFS	Committee on World Food Security			the Caribbean		
CL	Council		NERC	Regional Conference	ce for the Near East	
COAG	Committee on Agriculture		PC	Programme Commi	ittee	
COFI	Committee on Fisheries		UNGA	United Nations Ger	neral Assembly (Opening)	
COFO	Committee on Forestry		WFD	World Food Day	, , ,	
ECOSOC	UN Economic and Social Council (1: Or session opens; 2: Substantive session opens)	C	WFP	World Food Progra	mme Executive Board	

#### PROGRAMME COMMITTEE

(November 2005 - November 2007)

Chairperson Members

United Kingdom (M. Wyatt) <sup>1</sup> Afghanistan (A.R. Ayazi) Jamaica (F.B. Zenny) <sup>3</sup>

Australia (Ms J. Barfield)

Libyan Arab Jamahiriya (A.A. Zaied) <sup>4</sup>

Canada (J. Melanson)

Dominican Republic (M. A. Caamaño)

India (G. Nair) 

Nigeria (G. Lombin) 

Philippines (R.S. Recide)

South Africa (Ms V.B. Titi)

#### **FINANCE COMMITTEE**

(November 2005 - November 2007)

#### Chairperson Members

Pakistan (A.A. Khawaja) Côte d'Ivoire (A. Bakayoko) Paraguay (Ms A.M. Baiardi Quesnel)

Denmark (S. Skafte)

Germany (E.W. Hein)

Peru (R. Seminario)

Qatar (A.I. Al Abdulla)

Peru (R. Seminario)

Qatar (A.I. Al Abdulla)

Italy (A. Zodda) <sup>1</sup> United States of America (J.M. Cleverley) <sup>4 5</sup> Japan (S. Yokoi) Zimbabwe (Ms V. Takaendesa Mutiro) <sup>6</sup>

#### **COMMITTEE ON CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL MATTERS**

#### (November 2005 - November 2007)

Belgium Philippines
Czech Republic Syrian Arab Republic
Gabon United States of America
Guatemala

#### **WFP EXECUTIVE BOARD 2006**

Term of office expiring	Elected by FAO Council	Elected by ECOSOC
31 December 2007	Canada (D) Congo (A) Germany (D) Haiti (C) Niger (A) Kuwait (B) <sup>1</sup>	Australia (D) China (B) Cuba (C) Ethiopia (A) Norway (D) Tunisia (A)
31 December 2008	Austria (D) Colombia (C) Slovenia (E) Sudan (A) <sup>2</sup> Switzerland (D) United Republic of Tanzania (D) <sup>3</sup>	Indonesia (B) Japan (D) Mexico (C) Ukraine (E) United Kingdom (D) Zimbabwe (A)
31 December 2009	Netherlands (D) Pakistan (B) Peru (C) Philippines (B) United States of America (D) Zambia (A)	Cape Verde (A) India (B) Iran (Islamic Republic of) (B) New Zealand (D) Russian Federation (E) Sweden (D)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Kuwait replaced Thailand on 1 January 2006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Replaced by V. Heard (United Kingdom) as of the Ninety-sixth Session.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Replaced by R. Parasuram as of the Ninety-fifth Session.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Replaced by Mrs Z. Budhan as of the Ninety-sixth Session.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Replaced by S.A. Essa for the Ninety-sixth and Ninety-eighth Sessions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Replaced by Y. Olinaran as of the Ninety-seventh Session.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Replaced by R. Bettini for the Hundred and Eighteenth Session.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Replaced by Sheikh Khalid Bin Hamad Al-Thani for the Hundred and Nineteenth Session.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Replaced by Soltan Saad S.K. Al-Moraikhi for the Hundred and Twentieth Session.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Replaced by W. Brakel for the Hundred and Thirteenth Session.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Replaced by L. Brudvig as of the Hundred and Fourteenth Session.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Replaced by Mrs M. Muchada for the Hundred and Fourteenth, Hundred and Fifteenth, Hundred and Eighteenth, Hundred and Nineteenth and Hundred and Twentieth Sessions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Sudan replaced Algeria on 1 January 2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Occupies rotating seat for the period 2006-2008.

#### **FAO MEMBERS (190)**

#### (at 16 November 2007)

AfghanistanGeorgiaPakistanAlbaniaGermanyPalauAlgeriaGhanaPanamaAngolaGreecePapua New Guinea

Angola Antigua and Barbuda Grenada Paraguay Argentina Guatemala Peru Armenia Guinea Philippines Guinea-Bissau Australia Poland Austria Guyana Portugal

Azerbaijan Haiti Qatar Bahamas Honduras Republic of Korea Bahrain Hungary Romania

BangladeshIcelandRussian FederationBarbadosIndiaRwandaBelarusIndonesiaSaint Kitts and Nevis

Belgium Iran (Islamic Republic of) Saint Lucia

BelizeIraqSaint Vincent and the GrenadinesBeninIrelandSamoaBhutanIsraelSan Marino

Bolivia Italy Sao Tome and Principe
Bosnia and Herzegovina Jamaica Saudi Arabia

Bosnia and Herzegovina Jamaica Botswana Japan Brazil Jordan Kazakhstan Bulgaria Burkina Faso Kenya Burundi Kiribati Cambodia Kuwait Cameroon Kyrgyzstan

Solomon Islands Lao People's Democratic Republic Somalia Canada Cape Verde Latvia South Africa Central African Republic Lebanon Spain Chad Lesotho Sri Lanka Chile Liberia Sudan Libyan Arab Jamahiriya China Suriname Colombia Lithuania Swaziland Comoros Luxemboura Sweden

CongoMadagascarSwitzerlandCook IslandsMalawiSyrian Arab RepublicCosta RicaMalaysiaTajikistanCôte d'IvoireMaldivesThailand

Croatia Mali The former Yugoslav
Cuba Malta Republic of Macedonia

Cyprus Marshall Islands Timor-Leste Czech Republic Mauritania Togo

Democratic People's Republic of Korea Mauritius Tonga
Democratic Republic of the Congo Mexico Trinidad and Tobago

Democratic Republic of the Congo Mexico Trinidad and Tobal Denmark Micronesia (Federated States of) Tunisia Dijibouti Moldova Turkey Dominica Monaco Turkmenistan Dominican Republic Mongolia Tuvalu Ecuador Morocco Uganda

EgyptMozambiqueUkraineEl SalvadorMyanmarUnited Arab EmiratesEquatorial GuineaNamibiaUnited Kingdom

Eritrea Nauru United Republic of Tanzania
Estonia Nepal United States of America

EthiopiaNetherlandsUruguayEuropean CommunityNew ZealandUzbekistan(Member Organization)NicaraguaVanuatu

FijiNigerVenezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)FinlandNigeriaViet Nam

FranceNiueYemenGabonNorwayZambiaGambiaOmanZimbabwe

ISBN 978-92-5-105804-6 ISSN 0251-5296

Senegal

Seychelles

Slovakia

Slovenia

Sierra Leone

Serbia



TR/M/K0667E/1/09.07/250